**RECEIVED**

**May 28 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Jessica Ann Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2024-CP-10-04202

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000355

---

Hulsey Law Group, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Robin M. Schoepfel, Jessica Lynn Schoepfel, and Nicolas Mark Schoepfel,

Appellants.

---

**APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF  
(REDACTED)**

---

Jonathan M. Robinson (Bar No. 68285)  
Shanon N. Peake (Bar No. 102723)  
G. Murrell Smith, Jr. (No. 66263)  
SMITH ROBINSON, LLC  
3200 Devine Street  
Columbia, SC 29205  
Phone: (803)254-5445

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court err in refusing to enjoin HLG from continuing to disseminate its former clients' privileged and confidential information?
2. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in summarily denying the motion to dismiss HLG's claims based upon an unenforceable contract?
3. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in refusing to stay the case where the claims are contingent on the resolution ongoing litigation?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS<sup>1</sup>

On December 11, 2022, Jeffrey Schoepfel died under suspicious circumstances, allegedly committing suicide in the presence of Summer Hall ("Ms. Hall") the night after their wedding celebration at the Montage Palmetto Bluff Resort in Bluffton, South Carolina. Ms. Hall claims that months earlier, she had married Jeffrey Schoepfel pursuant to California's confidential marriage statute and thus was entitled to a portion of his estate as his surviving spouse. Not only do the Schoepfels dispute that Ms. Hall had legally married Jeffrey Schoepfel, but they also suspect, on information and belief, that Ms. Hall may be barred from any recovery under applicable South Carolina statutes.

The Schoepfels retained Paul Hulsey and Cherie Durand of HLG to represent them in their legal disputes with Ms. Hall. Pursuant to a Contract of Representation with HLG, the Schoepfels agreed to pay an hourly rate for HLG to [REDACTED] (Ex. A to MTD Memo.) The Contract stated: [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.*) HLG and the Schoepfels executed an Amendment to Contract Representation on January 31, 2023. (Ex. B to MTD Memo.) The

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellants combine the statement of the case and statement of the facts to eliminate repetition due to considerable overlap between the procedural history and the facts in this case.

Amendment purportedly provided for a contingency fee related to the Estate of Jeffrey Schoepfel, stating:

[REDACTED]

■ [REDACTED]

■ [REDACTED]

■ [REDACTED]

■ [REDACTED]

*(Id.)*

Until March 8, 2024, HLG represented the Schoepfels in various litigation against Ms. Hall, including in Case No. 2023-CP-10-02649, pending in the Court of Common Pleas, Ninth Judicial Circuit of Charleston County; Case No. 2023-ES-10-33, pending in the Probate Court of Charleston County; and Case No. 2:23-CV-814-RMG, pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina (collectively, the “Litigation”). On March 8, 2024, the Schoepfels discharged HLG for cause and paid all of HLG’s legal fees that were outstanding at that time.

Later, HLG submitted additional invoices to the Schoepfels for work allegedly done prior to the discharge. The Schoepfels have disputed these invoices.

After being discharged by the Schoepfels, HLG retaliated by sending multiple letters making numerous factually and legally baseless threats against third parties for supposedly playing a role in the Schoepfels' decision to terminate HLG for cause. These third parties included the company that Jeffrey Schoepfel founded, GSP Transportation, Inc., and those associated with it. HLG also made numerous unfounded threats against the Schoepfels' current counsel, seeking to interfere with their attorney-client relationship and impede the Litigation until their demands were satisfied.

These threats culminated in HLG disseminating a draft complaint that disclosed privileged and confidential information from the Litigation. (Third-Party Compl.; Virzi Aff.) The complaint styled the Husley Law Group as the prospective plaintiff and GSP Transportation, its management, and other unidentified entities as the prospective defendants. (Third-Party Compl.; Third-Party Defs Mtn. to Dismiss.) The Schoepfels did not authorize HLG to disclose any privileged and confidential information. The draft complaint, and the privileged and confidential information contained therein, was ultimately disclosed to counsel for Ms. Hall. (Third-Party Compl.; Virzi Aff.; Ex. to Memo.) The Schoepfels have incurred legal fees to remedy HLG's authorized actions and to respond to HLG's continued threats and extortion.

HLG initiated this action against the Schoepfels on August 19, 2024, raising causes of action for: (1) breach of contract; (2) fraud/fraudulent inducement; (3) civil conspiracy – constructive trust; and (4) prejudgment interest on liquidated damages. (Compl.) HLG also included a request for a declaratory judgment in its wherefore clause. HLG has continued to

disseminate the Schoepfels' confidential and privileged information by including such information within its publicly filed complaint in this action.

The Schoepfels filed an answer and counterclaims against HLG for: (1) breach of fiduciary duty; (2) legal malpractice; and (3) declaratory judgment. (Ans.) In support of their counterclaims, the Schoepfels filed the September 23, 2024 affidavit of Micheal J. Virzi, who testified that, in his professional opinion, HLG "failed to exercise the degree of care, skill, knowledge and judgment usually possessed and exercised by members of the legal profession and breached duties of competence, diligence, loyalty, deference, reasonable billing, and communication owed to" the Schoepfels. (*Id.*) On October 14, 2024, the Schoepfels filed various motions, including a motion to dismiss, motion for temporary injunction, motion to stay, motion to strike the complaint, and a motion to seal certain exhibits and confidential information contained in the filings.

In support of their motion for a temporary injunction, the Schoepfels submitted the October 14, 2024 affidavit of Michael J. Virzi. (Oct. Virzi Aff.) Mr. Virzi has taught professional responsibility at the University of South Carolina Joseph F. Rice School of Law for more than ten years and has focused his practice exclusively on legal ethics, malpractice, and lawyer discipline since 2003. (Sept. Virzi Aff.) Mr. Virzi reviewed numerous documents, including the filed pleadings, the draft complaint disseminated by HLG, and communications from HLG. (*Id.*) He testified HLG breached the duties of confidentiality, competence, diligence, and loyalty owed to the Schoepfels by disclosing confidential and privileged information about the Litigation in retaliation for HLG's termination. (*Id.*) As explained by Mr. Virzi, HLG continued to owe these duties to the Schoepfels despite the termination as there are "no exception[s] to either the duty of confidentiality or the attorney-client privilege" that "would allow Plaintiff or its lawyers to disclose confidential communications between Plaintiff' and the Schoepfels in this manner. (*Id.*)

HLG opposed the motions, and the circuit court held a hearing on October 31, 2024. (Hrg Tr.)

On November 22, 2024, HLG filed a third-party complaint against John T. Lay and Gallivan, White & Boyd, P.A.<sup>2</sup>, requesting equitable indemnification from the third-party defendants.<sup>3</sup> (Third-Party Compl.) In the Thid-Party Complaint, HLG admitted to sharing a copy of the draft complaint containing “confidential information about [HLG’s] legal strategy and the facts [HLG] had discovered” with counsel for GSP Transportation. (Th. Party Compl. ¶ 23) Specifically, HLG blames the third-party defendants for “publicizing the thought processes and legal strategy of [HLG and its] work product, *i.e.*, the proposed lawsuit against Cross, Meyer and Sparkman, as well as the facts which disclose Hall’s sham marriage and responsibility of the death of the decedent.” (Th. Party Compl. ¶ 27) HLG also admitted in the Third-Party Complaint that the disclosure of such information “caused substantial harm to . . . its former clients,” the Schoepfels. (Th. Party Compl. ¶ 24)

On November 27, 2024, the circuit court ruled on the various pending motions by issuing Form 4 orders. The circuit court summarily denied the Schoepfels’ motion to stay, without prejudice, and motion to dismiss. (Or. Denying Mtn. to Stay; Or. Denying Mtn. to Dismiss.) The circuit court granted the motion for temporary injunction in part and denied it in part, stating:

Plaintiff does not object to Defendants’ request for the return of their entire legal file maintained by Plaintiff. Thus, Plaintiff shall provide the same to the Defendants forthwith.[<sup>4</sup>] Defendants’ request for an order restraining or enjoining Plaintiff from disseminating confidential and/or attorney-client privileged information in any way is denied. Defendants acknowledge that their motion is for an order directing the

---

<sup>2</sup> Mr. Lay represents GSP Transportation. He does not and has not represented Appellants.

<sup>3</sup> The Schoepfels filed a motion to strike the third-party complaint, and the third-party defendants filed a motion to dismiss it. (Mtn. Strike; Mtn. Dismiss.)

<sup>4</sup> HLG initially refused to provide the Schoepfels with their entire legal file despite numerous requests following HLG’s termination. However, at the hearing, HLG agreed it would provide the file and did so on November 26, 2024.

Plaintiff not to violate the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct. Plaintiff acknowledged they are duty bound to abide by the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct. Further, to the extent Defendants alleged the Plaintiff has violated these rules, the remedy would be to report the violator(s) to the South Carolina Office of Disciplinary Counsel.

(Or. on Mtn. Temp. Inj.) The circuit court granted the Schoepfels' motion to seal and denied the motion to strike, directing the confidential information in the Complaint be sealed instead of stricken. (Or. Denying Mtn. Strike; Or. Granting Mtn. Seal.)

On December 9, 2024, the Schoepfels filed a motion requesting the circuit court to reconsider its rulings on the motion for temporary injunction, motion to dismiss, and motion to stay. (Mtn. Reconsider.) In further support of the motion for temporary injunction, the Schoepfels submitted a communication from counsel for Summer Hall in the pending litigation, requesting an unredacted version of the draft complaint discussed in the motion for temporary injunction that Plaintiff disseminated to a third party and claiming the privilege had been waived. (Ex. A to Mtn to Reconsider.) The communication was received days after HLG filed the third-party complaint admitting that it shared the Schoepfels' purported confidential and privilege information with a third party. The Schoepfels argued the continued disclosure of purported confidential information in the third-party complaint illustrated why the temporary injunction was necessary and the resultant irreparable harm to the Schoepfels. The Schoepfels further requested the circuit court to reconsider its ruling on the motions to dismiss and stay, and to issue a detailed formal order ruling on the motions.

The circuit court issued an initial order indicating it would decide the motion to reconsider on written submissions and directing the parties to file any additional briefs within the schedule set by the court. (Initial Or.) The Schoepfels filed a Memorandum in Support of the Motion on

January 9, 2025. (Mtn Reconsider Memo.) HLG did not file any written submissions on the motion to reconsider.

The circuit court denied reconsideration on January 28, 2025. (Or. Denying Reconsideration.) Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal on February 26, 2025. (Notice of Appeal.)

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The grant or denial of an injunction by the [circuit] court will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *Levine v. Spartanburg Reg'l Servs. Dist., Inc.*, 367 S.C. 458, 463, 626 S.E.2d 38, 41 (Ct. App. 2005), *holding modified by Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 694 S.E.2d 15 (2010). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

“An appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court when reviewing the dismissal of an action.” *Cap. City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009). “Under Rule 12(b)(6)[ of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure,] a defendant may make a motion to dismiss based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.” *Baird v. Charleston Cty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999). The Court should “dismiss a claim when the defendant demonstrates the plaintiff’s ‘failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action’ in the pleadings filed with the court.” *FOC Lawshe Ltd. P'ship v. Int'l Paper Co.*, 352 S.C. 408, 412, 574 S.E.2d 228, 230 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting Rule 12(b)(6)). The Court is “not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.” *Builder Mart of Am., Inc. v. First Union Corp.*, 349 S.C. 500, 512, 563 S.E.2d 352, 358 (Ct. App. 2002), *overruled on other grounds by Farmer v. Monsanto Corp.*, 353 S.C. 553, 579 S.E.2d 325 (2003) (quoting *Papasan v. Allain*, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)); *see also Carolina Winds*

*Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Joe Holden Builder, Inc.*, 297 S.C. 74, 76, 374 S.E.2d 897, 899 (Ct. App. 1988) (“A motion under Rule 12(b)(6) or Rule 12(c) admits the well pleaded facts in the complaint, but it does not admit the inferences drawn by the plaintiff from such facts, nor does it admit conclusions of law.”).

“Generally, a ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC must be based solely on the allegations contained in the complaint.” *Chewning v. Ford Motor Co.*, 346 S.C. 28, 32, 550 S.E.2d 584, 586 (Ct. App. 2001). However, the Court may also consider documents referred to in the Complaint, even if not formally attached or incorporated, when the authenticity of the document is not disputed. *Greenberg v. Life Inc. Co.*, 177 F.3d 507, 514 (6th Cir. 1999); *Farrino v. Fhp. Inc.*, 146 F.3d 699 (9th Cir. 1998); *Cortec Industries, Inc. v. Sum Holding L.F.*, 949 F.2d 42, 47 (2nd Cir. 1991). Considering such documents supports the policy of “[p]reventing plaintiffs from surviving a Rule 12(b)(6) motion by deliberately omitting references to documents upon which their claims are based.” *Farrino*, 146 F.3d at 706; *see also Cortec*, 949 F.2d at 47 (“[W]hen a plaintiff chooses not to attach to the complaint or incorporate by reference a [document] upon which it solely relies and which is integral to the complaint, the defendant may produce the document when attacking the complaint for its failure to state a claim because plaintiff should not so easily be allowed to escape the consequences of its own failure.”).

South Carolina has recognized this practice in considering whether to dismiss a case. *Timms v. Greene*, 310 S.C. 469, 427 S.E.2d 642 (1993) (overruled on other grounds) (considering the content of the entire contract when ruling on the enforceability of an arbitration agreement in the 12(b)(6) context); *Christensen v. Mikel*, 324 S.C. 70, 73, 476 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1996) (construing meaning and coverage of a title insurance policy at the 12(b)(6) stage and granting a motion to dismiss).

“The granting of a motion for a stay of proceedings rests entirely within the discretion of the trial [court].” *City of Spartanburg v. Belk's Dep't Store of Clinton*, 199 S.C. 458, 20 S.E.2d 157, 167 (1942). Such discretion, however, is not unlimited. A court, for example, should grant a stay when doing so would serve the interests of the parties or protect a party from an unjust result. *Talley v. John-Mansville Sales Corp.*, 285 S.C. 117, 118–20, 328 S.E.2d 621, 622–23 (1985) (determining that circuit court abused its discretion by not staying cases against various defendants, even though the cases were approaching trial and the stay could delay resolution of the cases for years). A stay is also appropriate when a controlling issue in the case is currently pending in another case. *Piedmont Press Ass'n v. Rec. Pub. Co.*, 156 S.C. 43, 152 S.E. 721, 728 (1930) (staying case because a forthcoming decision in another case would resolve a threshold issue in the instant case). Avoiding possible inconsistent judgments is yet another reason to stay a proceeding. *Merritt Bros. v. Marine Midland Realty Credit Corp.*, 307 S.C. 213, 216, 414 S.E.2d 167, 169 (1992).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court erred in refusing to enjoin HLG from continuing to disseminate its former clients' privileged and confidential information.**

The circuit court erred in refusing to issue a temporary injunction to prevent HLG from continuing to disseminate confidential and privileged information it learned while representing the Schoepfels.

A court should grant a temporary injunction when “necessary to preserve the status quo ante, and only upon a showing by the moving party that without such relief it will suffer irreparable harm, that it has a likelihood of success on the merits, and that there is no adequate remedy at law.” *Poynter Invs., Inc.*, 387 S.C. at 586–87, 694 S.E.2d at 17. “The determination of whether to grant

an injunction should not be based on the merits of the underlying case except insofar as the merits may assist the trial court in determining whether a prima facie showing [justifying the injunction] has been made.” *Peek v. Spartanburg Reg’l Healthcare Sys.*, 367 S.C. 450, 456, 626 S.E.2d 34, 37 (Ct. App. 2005). “The sole purpose of a temporary injunction is to avoid irreparable injury to a plaintiff pending final adjudication of a case.” *Helsel v. City of N. Myrtle Beach*, 307 S.C. 29, 32, 413 S.E.2d 824, 826 (1992). “Whether ‘a wrong is irreparable, in the sense that equity may intervene, and whether there is an adequate remedy at law, are questions that are not decided by narrow and artificial rules.” *Levine*, 367 S.C. at 464, 626 S.E.2d at 41 (quoting *Kirk v. Clark*, 191 S.C. 205, 211, 4 S.E.2d 13, 16 (1939)). When seeking a preliminary injunction, the plaintiff need not prove an absolute legal right; the plaintiff need only present “a fair question to raise as to the existence of such a right.” *Id.* at 465, 626 S.E.2d at 42 (quoting *Williams v. Jones*, 92 S.C. 342, 347, 75 S.E. 705, 710 (1912)).

The Schoepfels sufficiently demonstrated that they have suffered and will continue to suffer irreparable harm if the circuit court did not grant the temporary injunction. The Schoepfels have not authorized HLG to disclose their privileged and confidential information to anyone, and HLG’s ongoing failures to abide by its fiduciary duties and the confidences afforded by the attorney-client privilege cause continued harm to the Schoepfels. HLG owes strict confidences to the Schoepfels arising out of the attorney-client relationship and must protect any information disclosed to it during the relationship. *See Wilson v. Preston*, 378 S.C. 348, 359, 662 S.E.2d 580, 585 (2008) (“The attorney-client privilege is based upon a public policy that the best interest of society is served by promoting a relationship between the attorney and the client whereby utmost confidence in the continuing secrecy of all confidential disclosures made by the client within the relationship is maintained.”).

HLG has admitted to disseminating confidential and privileged client information to a third party—Mr. Lay, counsel for GSP Transportation—by circulating a draft complaint that included “confidential information about [HLG’s] legal strategy and the facts [HLG] had discovered” prior to filing the instant action. (Thr. Party Compl. at ¶ 22.) HLG admitted in the Third-Party Complaint that the disclosure of such information “caused substantial harm to . . . its former clients,” the Schoepfels. (Th. Party Compl. at ¶ 24.) HLG then continued to disseminate confidential and privileged information by including such information within its publicly filed Complaint in this action. Even after the Schoepfels requested this information be stricken or sealed, HLG continued to disseminate confidential information by filing the Third Party Complaint.

Notably, at the hearing, HLG objected to sealing any information in this case and argued that Rule 1.6(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct gave it an absolute right to disclose any and all confidential information because it brought an action against its former clients for payment of fees. (Hrg. Tr. at 14, 25.) HLG even went so far as to argue that the Schoepfels and their new counsel “should have thought about all that before they disengaged” HLG. (Hrg. Tr. at 25.) HLG’s interpretation of Rule 1.6(b) has no merit. While Rule 1.6(b) states that a lawyer “may reveal information relating to the representation of a client . . . to establish a claim or defense on behalf of the lawyer in a controversy between the lawyer and the client,” he may only do so “to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary.” As explained by Mr. Virzi, HLG “gross[ly] misunderstand[s]” Rule 1.6, which is “limited to disclosing only so much information as reasonably necessary to defend against the claims asserted against the lawyer or establish the amount due in a fee collection action” and cannot be used to bring claims against third parties. (Oct. Virzi Aff.)

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