RECEIVED

Sep 08 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Jessica Ann Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000355

Hulsey Law Group, LLC, Respondent,

v.

Robin M. Schoepfel, Jessica Lynn Schoepfel, and
Nicholas Mark Schoepfel, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Desa Ballard (S.C. Bar No. 498)
Harvey M. Watson III (S.C. Bar No. 74053)
Haley Hubbard (S.C. Bar No. 103195)

BALLARD & WATSON
226 State Street
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
desab@desaballard.com
harvey@desaballard.com
haley@desaballard.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Lastly, Appellants failed to establish that there is a likelihood of success on the merits of their claims against HLG for breach of fiduciary duty, legal malpractice, and declaratory judgment.

² Nowhere in Appellants’ Initial Brief or their Motion to Reconsider do they deny or dispute this acknowledgment of the type of relief sought by their Motion for Temporary Injunction.

³ Notably, there was no finding by the Circuit Court that HLG had in fact violated the Rules of Professional Conduct.

In support of their request for injunctive relief, Appellants supplied both a sealed and unsealed affidavit of expert Michael Virzi, who attests that, in his opinion, HLG or one or more of its agents have violated the duty of confidentiality as to Appellants. HLG asserts that the affidavit of Mr. Virzi is not admissible in these proceedings, as his affidavit is testimony as to what the law is, and that is the sole province of the Court. *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 656 S.E.2d 359 (2008) (excluding expert testimony that would confuse the fact finder). The Court did not address, nor did it need to address, the admissibility of Mr. Virzi's testimony at this stage, in that Mr. Virzi's affidavit is based, at least in part, on a document identified in Paragraph 2(O) of his affidavit as a draft complaint not filed in any court, and draft discovery.⁴ (R. Vol. II, pp. 271 ¶ 4). This document has not been identified or authenticated to date in this proceeding, and Mr. Virzi's apparent belief that Plaintiff improperly disclosed these unfiled pleadings is the basis of his opinion. In the absence of a foundation that ties this unsigned pleading and unsigned discovery to HLG, the court may not consider Mr. Virzi's affidavit or his opinion which is based upon unauthenticated documents.

Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err or abuse its discretion in denying Appellants' motion to issue a temporary injunction against HLG.

II. The Circuit Court properly denied Appellants' Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRC.P.⁵

⁴ Mr. Virzi also stated he has reviewed a significant number of documents, but his opinion is based on the allegations of the complaint. *Id.*

⁵ Appellants' appeal prior to final judgment is permissible pursuant to S. C. Code § 14-3-330(4) because the order denying temporary injunction is immediately appealable, and the other interlocutory orders (that would not otherwise be appealable) are joined in the appeal of the order denying temporary injunction.

HLG's complaint alleges sufficient facts to maintain causes of action against Appellants for breach of contract, fraud/fraudulent inducement, civil conspiracy – constructive trust, and declaratory judgment, and to survive a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err in denying Appellants' motion to dismiss.

A. Breach of Contract

To recover for breach of contract, a plaintiff must establish the existence of a binding contract between the parties, breach of that contract, and damages suffered by the plaintiff as a result of the breach. *Fuller v. E. Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 240 S.C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (1962). HLG's Complaint contains allegations establishing the existence of a valid and binding fee agreement between HLG and the Appellants. (R. Vol. I, p. 23, ¶ 6; R. Vol. I, p. 25, ¶18). Appellants do not dispute that they entered into a valid and binding contract with HLG for legal services. (R. Vol. I, p. 30 ¶¶ 5-6). The fee agreement provided for payment to HLG for work performed on an hourly basis and a contingency fee interest predicated on the outcome achieved in the estate litigation against the Decedent's purported spouse, Ms. Hall, and anticipated future litigation. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 6, 8, 15-16). HLG alleges that Appellants breached the fee agreement after they terminated HLG and refused to pay the outstanding invoices for hourly billing and expenses, totaling \$289,718.11, and refused to acknowledge HLG's contingency fee interest. (*Id.* at ¶ 18). As set forth in the Complaint, HLG has sustained damages as a result of Appellants' breach of the fee agreement in that HLG is still owed \$289,718.11 for legal services rendered to Appellants, and HLG is also entitled to its contingency fee from Appellants' future recovery in the estate litigation. *Id.*

While the Complaint articulates two theories establishing the breach of the fee agreement, Appellants focus their argument on the contingency fee agreement, however HLG maintains that

it has sufficiently pled a breach of both the hourly and contingency fee agreement. The specific provision within the amended fee agreement concerning HLG's contingency fee states:

In the event this litigation is compromised, settled, resolved or otherwise terminated, then [HLG] will be entitled to the following:

- a. In the event the matter is resolved by the putative wife accepting an amount less than Fifty Percent (50%) of the Estate, but more than one-third (her elective share), then [HLG] will receive only that portion of its hourly billing invoiced and unpaid to date.
- b. In the event the matter is resolved by the putative wife accepting less than her elective share within the first ninety (90) days of our original contract of representation, then [HLG] will receive one-fourth (25%) of the difference between her elective share and the amount of money, property or other consideration accepted by her to settle the litigation. In this event, the amount of hourly fees already earned by [HLG] will be deducted from one-fourth payment.
- c. In the event the matter is resolved by the putative wife after ninety (90) days of our original contract of representation, [HLG] will receive one-third (33%) of the difference between her elective share and the amount of money, property or other consideration accepted by her to settle the litigation. In this event, the amount of hourly fees already earned by [HLG] will be deducted from the one-third payment.
- d. In the event that by some artifice or deception, the putative wife produces a "new Will" purporting to divest the children from any interest in the Estate, thereby bequeathing the entire corpus of the estate to her then [HLG] will receive Fifteen Percent (15%) of the difference between what she receives and the total value of the Estate, minus the amount of hourly fees already earned by [HLG].

(R. Vol. II, pp. 298-300).

Appellants argue that the fee agreement(s)⁶ between HLG and Appellants are invalid under Rule 1.5, SCRPC, in that they failed to separately state whether costs would be deducted from that portion of the fee that was contingency. HLG maintains that the foregoing provisions set forth a valid contingency fee, however, that issue was not ripe for decision by the trial court at the 12(b)(6) stage of the proceedings. If it were, it is clear that the Rules of Professional Conduct do not, alone,

⁶ HLG and Appellants executed an original fee agreement and an amended fee agreement setting forth the contingency fee agreement.

set forth the standards for whether a fee agreement is or is not enforceable. *Williamson v. Middleton*, 374 S.C. 419, 649 S.E.2d 57 (Ct.App. 2007), *rev'd* on other grounds 383 S.C. 490, 681 S.E.2d 867 (2009). Rather, the appropriate question to consider upon a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is “whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” *Plyler v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 645, 647 S.E.2d 188, 192 (2007). Viewed in the light most favorable to HLG, it is clear that the Complaint states a valid claim against Appellants for breach of contract and contains factual allegations establishing each element of a breach of contract claim. It is certainly not necessary or appropriate to examine the enforceability of any fee agreements at this stage of the litigation. As such, the Circuit Court properly denied Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss.

B. Fraud/Fraudulent Inducement

A party asserting a claim for fraud in the inducement to enter into a contract must establish "(1) a representation, (2) its falsity, (3) its materiality, (4) knowledge of its falsity or reckless disregard of its truth or falsity, (5) intent that the representation be acted upon, (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity, (7) the hearer's reliance on its truth, (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon, and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury." *Brown v. Stewart*, 557 S.E.2d 676, 348 S.C. 33 (S.C. App. 2001) (quoting *Parker v. Shecut*, 340 S.C. 460, 482, 531 S.E.2d 546, 558 (Ct.App.2000)).

“[E]ntering into an agreement, with no intention of keeping such agreement, constitutes fraudulent misrepresentation; however, mere breach of contract does not constitute fraud.” *Adams v. G.J. Creel & Sons, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 274, 277, 465 S.E.2d 84, 85 (1995). A future promise is not fraudulent unless such promise was part of a general design or plan, existing at the time, to induce a party to enter into a contract or act as he or she otherwise would not have acted, to his or her

injury. *Bishop Logging Co. v. John Deere Indus. Equip. Co.*, 317 S.C. 520, 527, 455 S.E.2d 183, 187 (Ct.App.1995) (quoting *Coleman v. Stevens*, 124 S.C. 8, 16, 117 S.E. 305, 307 (1923)).

Appellants incorrectly assert that HLG has not pled each element required to maintain a cause of action for fraud in the inducement. In its Complaint, HLG alleges that Appellants made several false misrepresentations to HLG in order to induce HLG to undertake the representation of Appellants and provide them legal services. Specifically, Appellants promised HLG a contingency fee premised on the outcome of the estate litigation, the reduction in recovery by Decedent's purported spouse, and recovery in anticipated future litigation against the purported spouse. (R. Vol. I, p.26, ¶¶ 20-22). In the context of those promises, Appellants made further fraudulent misrepresentations by misrepresenting the amount of Decedent's estate subject to the contingency fee, and misrepresenting Appellants' desire to pursue additional causes of action against the purported spouse which would necessarily trigger additional contingency fees. (*Id.*) Despite agreeing to pay HLG a contingency fee and signing a fee agreement confirming their commitment, HLG alleges Appellants had no intention of honoring their agreement at the time that they entered into the agreement. (*Id.*) Due to the nature and complexity of the representation, HLG would not have undertaken the representation of Appellants without the contingency fee component of the fee agreement, and Appellants were aware of the same, thus making it a material component of the agreement. (R. Vol. I, p.23, ¶ 8; R. Vol. I, p.26, ¶20). When Appellants later terminated HLG without any prior notice and retained new counsel, Appellants' new counsel informed HLG that it refused to recognize HLG's contingency interest or lien as provided in the fee agreement. (*Id.* at ¶ 11). As a direct and proximate result of Appellants' fraudulent misrepresentations, HLG has sustained significant financial damages. (*Id.* at ¶ 23). The factual allegations set forth in the Complaint establish each of the required elements for fraud in the inducement. Appellants assert

that the Complaint does not identify specific alleged misrepresentations, however the Complaint specifically identifies three fraudulent misrepresentations with particularity. (R. Vol. I, p.26, ¶¶ 20-22).

Appellants further argue that the misrepresentations cannot constitute fraud because they concern future acts. Ordinarily, to be actionable, a statement must relate to a present or preexisting fact, and cannot be predicated on unfulfilled promises or statements as to future events. *Davis v. Upton*, 250 S.C. 288, 291, 157 S.E.2d 567, 568 (1967). “However, where one promises to do a certain thing, having at the time no intention of keeping his agreement, it is a fraudulent misrepresentation of a fact, and actionable as such.” *Id.* Additionally, “[a]n action in fraud...can be based on an unfulfilled promise to perform in the future made with a present undisclosed intention not to perform and for the purpose of inducing one to sign a paper or do some other act.” *Jones v. Cooper*, 234 S.C. 477, 109 S.E.2d 5 (1959). This is precisely what HLG has pleaded in the Complaint as it relates to Appellants’ fraudulent misrepresentations concerning the contingency fee agreement, thus Appellant’s misrepresentation of fact is actionable, and the Circuit Court did not err in denying Appellants’ motion to dismiss.

C. Civil Conspiracy – Constructive Trust

HLG’s Complaint sufficiently pleads factual allegations supporting (1) the combination or agreement of two or more persons, (2) to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means, (3) together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the agreement, and (4) damages proximately resulting to the Plaintiff. *Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 433 S.C. 562, 574, 861 S.E.2d 774, 780 (2021). The Complaint alleges that Appellants, comprising of three individuals, conspired together and with third parties to retain HLG and use their services to their

benefit, only thereafter to create a situation in which Appellants unlawfully avoided or breached their obligations under the fee agreement with HLG. (R. Vol. I, p.27, ¶ 25).

HLG maintains that the Complaint contains factual allegations establishing each element of its civil conspiracy claim, and the Circuit Court did not err in denying Appellants' motion to dismiss. Even assuming, arguendo, that the Circuit Court did err in denying Appellants' motion to dismiss as to the civil conspiracy claim, South Carolina law provides that where a complaint is found to be deficient under Rule 12(b)(6), the court should provide the plaintiff an opportunity to amend the complaint before entering a final order of dismissal. *Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry Cnty.*, 426 S.C. 175, 826 S.E.2d 585 (S.C. 2019). There's no indication in the record that the Circuit Court would have denied HLG's request to amend the Complaint if it had in fact found the Complaint to be deficient. Furthermore, the order from which Appellants appeal is still remains an interlocutory order,⁷ which issues no final judgment on the matter, nor does it prevent Appellants from raising this issue again prior to trial.

Within the civil conspiracy cause of action, HLG requests the imposition of a constructive trust upon the proceeds or recovery obtained by Appellants to ensure that HLG receives its due compensation for legal services. (R. Vol. I, p.27, ¶26). "A constructive trust arises whenever a party has obtained money which does not equitably belong to him and which he cannot in good conscience retain or withhold from another who is beneficially entitled to it as where money has been paid by accident, mistake of fact, or fraud, or has been acquired through a breach of trust or the violation of a fiduciary duty." *Wolfe v. Wolfe*, 215 S.C. 530, 56 S.E.2d 343 (1949). In the instant

⁷ *McLendon v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 313 S.C. 525, 526, 443 S.E.2d 539, 540 (1994) ("The denial of . . . a motion [to dismiss] is not immediately appealable under [§ 14-3-330 of the South Carolina Code (2017)]."); *id.* at 526 n.2, 443 S.E.2d at 540 n.2 (noting "the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and the issue raised by the motion can be raised again at a later stage of the proceedings").

matter, Appellants refuse to recognize HLG's contingency interest in the estate litigation as set forth in the fee agreement and stand to receive funds which do not equitably belong to Appellants. Additionally, HLG has asserted a claim of fraud/fraudulent inducement to support the imposition of a constructive trust.

As such, the Circuit Court did not err or abuse its discretion in denying Appellants' motion to dismiss HLG's actions for civil conspiracy – constructive trust.

D. Declaratory Judgment

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